Before the Public Utilities Commission of the State of California
The Office of Ratepayer Advocates, 

                                    Complainants,

v.

Pacific Bell Telephone Company 

(U 1001 C), 

                                    Defendant.
Complaint 00-08-053.






COMPLAINT AND REQUEST FOR CEASE AND DESIST ORDER AGAINST PACIFIC BELL 

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This action is brought pursuant to Sections 701 and 1702 of the Public Utilities Code.  The Office of Ratepayer Advocates (ORA) brings this action to remedy violations by Pacific Bell of the California Constitution, state law, and orders and decisions of the California Public Utilities Commission (Commission).  

As described in more detail below, ORA alleges that the service Pacific Bell (Pacific) calls Repeat Dialing on a pay-per-use basis violates Section 451 of the Public Utilities Code in that Pacific’s imposition of Repeat Dialing on customers’ lines without their informed consent is not “adequate, efficient, just or reasonable” for its patrons and the public.  In addition, Pacific’s imposition of Repeat Dialing on customer lines violates Section 2889.4 of the Public Utilities Code in that the notice Pacific provided of this new service did not meet the minimum standards required by law.   Pacific’s “notice” of the Repeat Dialing pay-per-use service to residential customers and the rate increase associated with that service also fails to comply with Sections 454, 491 and 495 of the Public Utilities Code, and the Commission’s General Order 96-A in that Pacific has improperly increased the charge and interfered with its customers’ service.  By violating General Order 96-A, Pacific has also violated Public Utilities Code Section 702.   Furthermore, Pacific’s imposition of Repeat Dialing on every so affected residential line violates Pacific’s own Tariff Schedule No. A2, which states that Pacific “…will not contact residence customers by telephone on an unlisted numbers(s) for unsolicited sales efforts.”  Finally, Pacific’s interruption of customer calls to sell the Repeat Dialing service is an invasion of the right to privacy guaranteed by the California Constitution.  (Cal. Const. Article I, Section 1.)  

ORA seeks an Order from the Commission that Pacific immediately cease and desist the practice of interrupting busy signals with a sales message for its Repeat Dialing service.  ORA also seeks an Order from the Commission that Pacific immediately cease and desist from charging $0.95 per-use for the customer-initiated Repeat Dialing service and revert to the tariffed rate of $0.75 per use.  

In addition, ORA seeks restitution of the increased fees paid by Pacific’s customers for Repeat Dialing on a pay-per-use basis.  ORA also seeks restitution to all customers with unlisted numbers who were subjected to this marketing practice for the fees they paid for their unlisted number.  Finally, ORA asks that the Pacific be prohibited from imposing this service on customer lines until such time as the company has followed the applicable statutes and Commission orders and the Commission has found that the new rate and service are justified.  

II. THE PARTIES

A. The Office of Ratepayer Advocates

1.  The Office of Ratepayer Advocates is the Complainant in this matter.  ORA is a division within the California Public Utilities Commission.  ORA is charged with representing the interests of public utility customers and subscribers in Commission proceedings.   (Public Utilities Code Section 309.5.)

B. Pacific Bell

Pacific Bell is the Defendant in this matter.  ORA alleges the following on information and belief:

2.  Defendant Pacific Telephone Company (Pacific) is a local exchange carrier serving approximately 97% of the residential customers in its service area in California. As a regional Bell Operating Company (RBOC), Pacific Bell is prohibited from offering long distance service until such time as it can clear the requirements of Section 271 of the Telecommunications Act of 1996. (42 U.S.C. Section 271.) 

3.  Pacific is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of California.  Pacific’s office is located at 140 New Montgomery Street, San Francisco, CA  94105.  Pacific is an affiliate of SBC Communications.

III. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

4.  Pacific offers a service it calls Repeat Dialing. Pacific’s Tariff Schedule No. A5, 3rd Revised Sheet 397.8 describes the Repeat Dialing Service as a service initiated by the calling party upon getting a busy signal.  The caller may then hang up the phone and dial *66 (or 1166 on a rotary phone).  Pacific’s switching equipment will then re-dial the previously called number at 45-second intervals and call the customer back when the line is clear.  This service has been tariffed and available to customers since 1998.  (Tariff Schedule No. A5, 3rd Revised Sheet 397.8 is attached to this Complaint as Appendix A.) 

5.  Pacific’s Tariff Schedule A2 states that “[t]he Utility will not contact nonpublished residence customers by telephone on an unlisted numbers(s) for unsolicited sales efforts.”  (Tariff Schedule No. A2 is attached to this Complaint as Appendix B.)  Residential customers pay $0.28 per month for nonpublished service.

6.  Beginning at a date unknown to ORA, Pacific began offering Repeat Dialing on a pay-per-use basis by interrupting a busy signal with a message that Repeat Dialing will automatically check the line called every 45 seconds for the next 30 minutes for a charge of $0.95.  The message tells the calling party that when the call is “ready to go through” the customer will hear a “special ring.”  (Prompted Repeat Dialing Launch Notice is attached to this Complaint as Appendix C.)

7.  On or about May 3, 2000, Pacific Bell submitted Advice Letter 21161 to revise Schedule A5 to “…exercise the pricing flexibility granted in D. 94-09-065, to increase the per activation rates for… Repeat Dialing, Call Return and Three Way Calling.” (Advice Letter 21161 is attached to this Complaint as Appendix D.)

8.  Until approximately June 2, 2000, Pacific’s tariffed service description for Repeat Dialing stated that customers could use Repeat Dialing on a pay-per-use basis by dialing *66 on a touch tone phone or 1166 on a rotary phone at a rate of $.75 per activation, with a cap of eight successful activations.

9.  Until some time after May 3, 2000, customers who dialed a line that was engaged would hear a busy signal.

10.  On or about May 3, 2000, Pacific submitted Advice Letter No. 21161 to raise the Repeat Dialing per usage rate from $0.75 to $0.95 for each activation on a residential line.

11.  On or about May 26, 2000 Pacific prepared the Prompted Repeat Dialing Launch Notice.  (See Appendix C.)  

12.  On or about May 26, 2000, the text of the Prompted Repeat Dialing Launch Notice appeared on customer bills.  The announcement did not explain that the $0.95 charge for per-use Repeat Dialing was a 20-cent increase over the previous $0.75 per-use rate.  The announcement was not noticeable and did not include a card to return to block the service. A copy of a bill is attached to this Complaint as Appendix E.)

13.  Beginning at a date unknown to ORA, Pacific Bell customers with unlisted numbers were subjected to the Repeat Dialing marketing message when they called a line that was busy.     

14.  Beginning at a date unknown to ORA, Pacific Bell customers with listed numbers were subjected to the Repeat Dialing marketing message when they called a line that was busy.     

  15.  The marketing message Pacific uses to interrupt busy signals is the following: “That number is busy.  For 95 cents, let Repeat Dialing call you back when the line is free.  To use it, just press 3.  If you subscribe to Repeat Dialing, there is no additional charge.”  

16.  Pacific’s Advice Letter 21161 does not explain the effect of the new pay-per-use service which is to interrupt busy signals with a marketing message.

17.  On August 22, 2000, ORA served a Late-Filed Protest to Advice Letter 21161 on Pacific and the Commission’s Telecommunications Division.  (The Late-Filed Protest is attached to the Complaint as Appendix F.)

IV. GROUNDS FOR RELIEF

A. Violation of Public Utilities Code Section 451 

18.  ORA realleges, and by this reference incorporates as though fully set forth herein, each and every allegation set forth in paragraphs 1-17 inclusive.

19.  Public Utilities Code Section 451 requires Pacific to furnish “…just, and reasonable service…” as is “…necessary to promote the safety, health, comfort, and convenience of its patrons…and the public.”  

20.  As a public utility serving the public trust, Pacific has a duty to comply with Section 451.  (See e.g. Re Pacific Bell (1986) 21 CPUC 2d 182, 188; D.86-05-0721.)   By interrupting customer’s calls to engaged lines with a marketing message, Pacific is not promoting the convenience of its patrons and the public, but is instead improperly interfering with the customer’s reasonable expectation of privacy and freedom from marketing efforts in the course of placing private calls.   

B. Violation of Public Utilities Code Section 2889.4

21.  ORA realleges, and by this reference incorporates as though fully set forth herein, each and every allegation set forth in paragraphs 1-17 inclusive.

22.  Public Utilities Code Section 2889.4 requires Pacific to include “…a noticeable postcard size bill insert that may be returned in the subscriber’s bill envelope if they wish to block any …per use feature[].”

23.  Pacific’s announcement of the new Repeat Dialing service was printed on telephone bills under the section entitled “Total Taxes and Surcharges.”  (See Appendix E.)  Pacific’s announcement fails to meet even the minimal requirements of Public Utilities Code Section 2889.4, in that it was not noticeable.  Moreover, customers were not given a card to return to block the service, but were told they had to call Pacific Bell to do so.

C. Violation of General Order 96-A

24.  ORA realleges, and by this reference incorporates as though fully set forth herein, each and every allegation set forth in paragraphs 1-17 inclusive.

25.  General Order 96-A permits a utility to submit an advice letter for some rate changes.  The Commission’s General Order 96-A, however, provides that only minor rate increases may be made by advice letter filings.  In addition, General Order 96-A requires that the general effect of a new service be explained in the advice letter.

26.  Pacific has raised the price of the per-use Repeat Dialing service by 27%.  Twenty-seven percent is not a minor increase.   

27.  Pacific’s Advice Letter did not explain that the new Repeat Dialing service would be initiated by Pacific and used to interrupt the busy signal to interject a sales message. 

28.  Pacific’s Advice Letter failed to provide the minimum information required for compliance with General Order 96-A. 

D. Violation of Public Utilities Code Section 454

29.  ORA realleges, and by this reference incorporates as though fully set forth herein, each and every allegation set forth in paragraphs 1-17 inclusive.

30.  Section 454 of the Public Utilities Code prohibits Pacific from changing any rate until there has been a finding by the Commission that the new rate is justified.   Section 454 does permit a utility to submit rate and service change proposals by advice letter.

31.  Pacific’s Advice Letter failed to provide the information required by General Order 96-A, as alleged in paragraphs 26-28, thus Pacific’s rate change and service change violate Public Utilities Code Section 454.

E. Violation of Public Utilities Code Section 702

32.  ORA realleges, and by this reference incorporates as though fully set forth herein, each and every allegation set forth in paragraphs 1-17 inclusive. 

33.  Public Utilities Code Section 702 requires Pacific “…to obey and comply with every order, decision, direction, or rule made or prescribed by the Commission….”  

34.  Pacific’s Advice Letter failed to provide the information required by General Order 96-A, as alleged in paragraphs 26-28, thus Pacific’s rate change and service change violate Public Utilities Code Section 702.

F. Violation of Public Utilities Code Section 491

35.  ORA realleges, and by this reference incorporates as though fully set forth herein, each and every allegation set forth in paragraphs 1-17 inclusive. 

36.  Public Utilities Code Section 491 requires Pacific to provide at least 30 days notice to the Commission and to the public of changes in rates and services.

37.  Pacific provided no notice to the Commission that it was changing the Repeat Dialing Service from a feature initiated by the customer to an interruption of the customer’s call to an engaged line.

38.  Pacific provided no notice to the public that the $0.95 cent per-use rate for the new Repeat Dialing service represented a 27% increase over the previous per use rate of $0.75.

39.  By failing to inform the Commission and the public of the changes Pacific was making to the Repeat Dialing service and rate, Pacific violated Section 491 of the Public Utilities Code.

G. Violation of Public Utilities Code Section 495

40.  ORA realleges, and by this reference incorporates as though fully set forth herein, each and every allegation set forth in paragraphs 1-17 inclusive.

41.  Public Utilities Code Section 495 requires Pacific to file with the Commission schedules showing all the rates and classifications for the transmission of messages.  

42.  By failing to provide the Commission with a schedule describing the new Repeat Dialing service, or classification, Pacific has violated Section 495 of the Public Utilities Code.

H. Violation of Tariff

43.  ORA realleges, and by this reference incorporates as though fully set forth herein, each and every allegation set forth in paragraphs 1-17 inclusive.

44.  Pacific’s own tariff prohibits the company from contacting nonpublished customers by telephone on unlisted numbers for unsolicited sales calls.  By interrupting busy signals of calls made by nonpublished customers to attempt to sell them Repeat Dialing, Pacific has violated and continues to violate its own tariff.

I. Violation of the Constitutional Right to Privacy

45.  ORA realleges, and by this reference incorporates as though fully set forth herein, each and every allegation set forth in paragraphs 1-17 inclusive.

46.  Article I, Section 1 of the California Constitution provides states that:  

All people are by nature free and independent and have inalienable rights.  Among these are enjoying and defending life and liberty, acquiring, possessing, and protecting property, and pursuing and obtaining safety, happiness and privacy.

47.  All of Pacific’s customers have a right to expect that the calls they make will be private.  By imposing the Repeat Dialing message on lines of customers who have not asked for the service, Pacific interjects itself into private phone calls to attempt to sell a service.  

48.  Pacific’s sales message has violated and continues to violate the right to privacy of all customers, both those with listed and unlisted numbers. 

V. REQUEST FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE:  ORA respectfully requests that the Commission:

1.  Order Pacific to cease and desist immediately from interrupting busy signals to market the Repeat Dialing service.

2.  Order Pacific to cease and desist immediately from charging customers any more than $0.75 per-use of the customer initiated Repeat Dialing Service.

3.  Order Pacific to cease and desist immediately each and every violation alleged in this Complaint and from any and all policies, practices and conduct which violate the Constitution of the State of California, Public Utilities Code Sections 451, 454, 491, 495, 702 and 2889.4, Tariff Schedule A2, and General Order 96-A.

4.  Order Pacific to bring all of its rates and services immediately into compliance with the Constitution of the State of California, Public Utilities Code Sections 451, 454, 491, 495, 702 and 2889.4, Tariff Schedule A2, and General Order 96-A.

5.  Order Pacific to make any and all reimbursements, restitution and penalties applicable under the Public Utilities Code and other applicable law, including but not limited to refund, reimbursement, restitution and/ or credit to all ratepayers who were charged for nonpublished numbers and whose calls to engaged lines were interrupted with the Repeat Dialing sales message.

6.  Order Pacific to make any and all reimbursements, restitution and penalties applicable under the Public Utilities Code and other applicable law, including but not limited to refund, reimbursement, restitution and/ or credit to all ratepayers who were charged more than the $0.75 pay-per-use rate for the Repeat Dialing Service.

7.  Order the invalidation of any and all tariffs submitted pursuant to Advice Letter 21161.

8.  Prohibit Pacific from interrupting busy signals with a sales message or charging more than $0.75 for the per-use Repeat Dialing service unless and until Pacific complies with the applicable statutes and Commission orders and the Commission makes a finding that the rates and service are justified. 

9.  Order any further relief the Commission deems appropriate.

VI. CATEGORIZATION AND SCHEDULING

1.  This Complaint alleges violations of the California Constitution, provisions of the Public Utilities Code, Tariffs and General Order 96-A of the Commission.  This Complaint is therefore an adjudicatory proceeding.  (Rule 5(b).)  

2.  The allegations of this Complaint require evidentiary hearings.  Evidentiary hearings will inform the Commission of the nature and severity of Pacific’s violations of law and Commission orders.  

3. At or before a pre-hearing conference, ORA will provide the Commission and Pacific with a proposed schedule for this Complaint proceeding.

///

///

///

VII. CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, ORA respectfully requests that the Commission grant the relief described above.

Respectfully submitted,

/s/
LAURA J. TUDISCO


Laura J. Tudisco

Staff Counsel

Attorney for the Office of Ratepayer Advocates

California Public Utilities Commission

505 Van Ness Ave.

San Francisco, CA 94102

Phone: (415) 703-2164

August 25, 2000



Fax: (415) 703-2262

VERIFICATION

I am an employee of the State of California, California Public Utilities Commission and am a Senior Telecommunications Analyst of the Office of Ratepayer Advocates.  The Office of Ratepayer Advocates has diligently researched the foregoing complaint and believes the statements therein to be true.  I am informed and believe that the statements in the Complaint are true.  

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

Executed this __ day of August 2000 at San Francisco, California.

__________________________

Kelly E. Boyd

Senior Telecommunications 

  Analyst     

Office of Ratepayer Advocates

770 L Street Suite 1050

Sacramento, CA  95814

(916) 327-2453

(916) 327-1543
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